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Dear Ms. Dortch: 

dPi Teleconnect, LLC ("dPi Teleconnect") and Amvensys Capital Group, LLC, 
f/k1a Amvensys Telecom Holdings, LLC ("Amvensys;" with dPi Teleconnect, the "Applicants"), 
by their attorneys, hereby respond to the comments filed by Lawrence Green on February 21, 
2012 in the proceeding captioned above. 1 In this proceeding, dPi Teleconnect requests authority 
for the transfer of control of dPi Teleconnect to Amvensys. In his comments, Mr. Green states 

As an initial matter, Amvensys notes that Mr. Green has repeatedly sent similar letters 
and emails to Amvensys' banks and employees over the last two (2) years), sometimes 
using different names and email addresses. Each of these letters and emails make the 
same unsubstantiated claims and are clearly intended to cast a negative light on 
Amvensys and its principals and subsidiaries. In response, Amvensys has contacted Mr. 
Green, to determine whether Mr. Green has had specific problems with Amvensys and/or 
its subsidiaries in the past, and if so, to address these issues with Mr. Green directly. Mr. 
Green has advised Amvensys that he has no specific complaints with Amvensys or its 
subsidiaries. To the best of the Applicants' knowledge, neither the Applicants nor their 
subsidiaries have any prior business relationship with Mr. Green. The Applicants remain 
willing to discuss and address with Mr. Green his specific concerns with Amvensys, dPi 
Teleconnect, or Amvensys' other subsidiaries. 
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that Z. Ed. Lateef, one of the owners of Amvensys and its Chief Executive Officer, is a 
"convicted felon," and describes Mr. Lateef's prior involvement in bankrupt companies.2 Mr. 
Green urges the Commission to "thoroughly investigate Zahed Lateef, his source of funding and 
the companies he controls" and "revoke any license held by any company Zahed Lateef is 
involved with. ,,3 As discussed below, the comments submitted by Mr. Green are misleading and 
for the most part unsubstantiated. More importantly, the comments do not provide a basis on 
which to deny the Application or take further action with respect to the Applicants. As the 
Applicants demonstrated in the Application, grant of the Application will serve the public 
interest. Accordingly, the Commission should disregard the comments ofMr. Green and grant 
the Application on streamlined processing. 

In considering the Application, the Commission must determine, pursuant to 
Section 214 of the Communications Act of 1934, as amended (the "Act"), whether the proposed 
transfer of control will serve the public interest. As a threshold matter, the Commission must 
determine whether Amvensys has the requisite qualifications to hold and transfer control of 
licenses under Section 214. The Commission uses its character policy, initially developed in the 
broadcast area, as guidance in making this determination in common carrier license transfer 
proceedings.4 In the Commission's view: 

... a propensity to comply with the law generally is relevant to the 
Commission's public interest analysis ... an applicant's or licensee's 
willingness to violate other laws, and, in particular, to commit 
felonies ... bears on our confidence that an applicant or licensee will 
confirm to FCC rules and policies.5 

The Commission has previously determined that it will consider forms of 
adjudicated, non-Commission related misconduct that include (1) felony convictions, (2) 

2 

3 

4 

5 

Comments of Lawrence Green in WC Docket No. 12-32, filed Feb. 21, 2012, at 1 
("Green Comments"). 

Id. at 2. 

See WorldCom, Inc. and its Subsidiaries (debtors-in-possession), Transferor, and MCl, 
Inc., Transferee, Applications for Consent to Transfer and/or Assign Section 214 
Authorizations, Section 310 Licenses, and Submarine Cable Landing Licenses, 
Memorandum Opinion and Order, 18 FCC Rcd 26484,26493 (2003) ("WorldCom-MCI 
Order"). 

Policy Regarding Character Qualifications in Broadcast Licensing, Policy Statement and 
Order, 5 FCC Rcd 3252, ~ 3 (1990) ("1990 Character Qualifications Order"). 
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fraudulent misrepresentations to governmental units, and (3) violations of antitrust or other laws 
protecting competition in its review of character issues.6 

In his comments, Mr. Green makes numerous uncorroborated statements about 
Mr. Lateef that are clearly intended to impugn the character of Mr. Lateef. Since the misconduct 
alleged in these statements is not adjudicated (let alone supported), none of these allegations 
meet the Commission's established threshold for consideration in a review of character issues. 
As such, they are not relevant to the Commission's determination whether Amvensys has the 
requisite qualifications under Section 214 of the Act. Among other things, Mr. Green states 
without proof that Mr. Lateef "routinely lies and states that he is not a felon on state and federal 
applications;" "is a very dangerous person;" "will lie and cheat at every opportunity;" is 
"deceitful;" "uses the Name [sic] Ed Lateef or Ed Z. Lateef on any document that he signs so as 
to hide his past felony theft conviction;" obtains funding "from scams and from questionable 
sources overseas," including "Adley Abdulwahab;" has "spent time in countries that are not 
friendly to the US;" has "bankrupted" companies; and has obtained control of companies "by 
fraud and deception.,,7 As evidenced by the verification ofMr. Lateef(Attachment 1), Mr. 
Lateef denies each and everyone of these allegations. 

Mr. Green makes two allegations of misconduct in his comments that could 
arguably meet the Commission's requirements for consideration in a review of character issues. 
First, Mr. Green alleges that Mr. Lateef is a "convicted felon.,,8 Mr. Lateef does not deny that he 
has been convicted of a felony. While the Commission has found that conviction for a felony 
raises questions whether a transferee has the requisite propensity to obey the law, the 
Commission has also held that "mitigating factors" must also be taken into account. Such 
mitigating factors include "the willfulness of the misconduct, the frequency of the misconduct, 
the currentness of the misconduct, the seriousness of the misconduct, the nature of the 
participation (if any) of managers or owners, efforts made to remedy the wrong, overall record of 
compliance with FCC rules and policies, and rehabilitation.,,9 The Applicants submit that such 
mitigating factors are present in this case. 

As discussed in Attachment 1, Mr. Lateef was convicted of felony theft by check 
in Texas nearly two decades ago at the age of 22. Mr. Lateef made full restitution and served no 
jail time. His conviction reflects errors in judgment rather than an intention to write a bad check 
or commit fraud. Mr. Lateef has no other felony convictions. As such, the Applicants submit 

6 

7 

8 

9 

WorldCom-MCI Order at 26494, n.57. 

Green Comments at 1-2. 

Green Comments at 1. 

1990 Character Qualifications Order at 3252, ~ 5. 
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that Mr. Lateer s felony conviction does not provide a basis for disqualifying Amvensys on 
character grounds. 

Second, Mr. Green alleges that Mr. Lateef made false and misleading statements 
in proceedings before the Public Utility Commission of Texas ("PUCT") and the Florida Public 
Service Commission ("FPSC"). Neither case provides a basis for disqualifying Amvensys and 
denying the Application. 

The proceedings before the PUCT concerned a former Amvensys subsidiary 
known as dPi Energy, LLC ("dPi Energy"). dPi Energy holds a retail electric provider certificate 
granted by the PUCT. In December 2011, the PUCT issued an order approving a settlement 
agreement with dPi Energy, Mr. Lateef, and others that concerned an application of dPi Energy 
to amend its certificate ("PUCT Order"). A copy of the PUCT Order is provided in Attachment 
2. In accordance with the terms of the settlement agreement, Amvensys closed on the sale of dPi 
Energy to TruSmart Energy Holdings, LLC on November 11, 2011, and has had no further 
involvement in dPi Energy. 

PUCT staff alleged in this proceeding that dPi Energy violated PUCT rules "by 
providing inconsistent, misleading, and false information in its change of ownership 
application.,,10 However, in the PUCT Order, the PUCT made no finding that dPi Energy or Mr. 
Lateef provided false or misleading information. The Commission's decisions are clear that 
fraudulent representations to governmental units can be considered in reviewing an applicant's 
character qualifications only where a specific finding of fraudulent representation is made. II 
Since such a finding is absent in the PUCT Order, Mr. Lateers statements or omissions in 
proceedings before the PUCT do not meet the Commission's threshold for consideration in a 
review of character issues. The Applicants note that per the PUCT order, dPi Energy neither 
conceded or admitted a violation of any state laws or PUCT rules concerning the provision of 
false or misleading information. 12 Mr. Lateef denies intentionally providing false or misleading 
information to the PUCT in Attachment 1. 

For the same reasons, Mr. Lateers statements or omissions in proceedings before 
the FPSC provide no basis for disqualifying Amvensys or denying the Application. The FPSC 
document submitted by Mr. Green with his comments concerns the February 2010 petition of dPi 
Teleconnect for supplemental authority in regards to its eligible telecommunications carrier 

10 

II 

12 

PUCT Order at 4. 

See Policy Regarding Character Qualifications in Broadcast Licensing, Report, Order 
and Policy Statement, 102 FCC 2d 1179, ~~ 35-36 (1986) ("1986 Character 
Qualifications Order "). 

See PUCT Order at 6. 
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("ETC") status in Florida. 13 dPi Teleconnect requested leave to withdraw this petition on May 
27,2010 14 because dPi Teleconnect determined that it was not necessary to file for supplemental 
ETC authority from the FPSC. The FPSC closed the docket on June 28, 2010, before taking any 
action on the petition. ls The FPSC never alleged that dPi Teleconnect or Mr. Lateefprovided 
false or misleading information to the FPSC in connection with the petition, and no finding of 
fraudulent representation was made. Mr. Lateef denies intentionally providing false or 
misleading information to the FPSC in Attachment 1. 

The Applicants note that the Commission's Rules for domestic Section 214 
transfer of control applications do not require applicants to disclose the felony convictions of 
applicants or principals, or allegations concerning the provision of false or misleading 
information, in their transfer applications. 16 Furthermore, felony convictions or allegations 
regarding misrepresentations do not disqualify a person or entity from holding blanket domestic 
Section 214 authority under the FCC Rules.17 The Applicants did not disclose Mr. Lateef s 
felony conviction or discuss the PUCT and FPSC proceedings in their Application because they 
deemed these matters to be extraneous to the Application, and thus not necessary to prevent any 
material factual statement in the Application from being incorrect or misleading. The 
Commission has held that an applicant's obligation under Section 1.17 of the FCC Rules to 
provide truthful and accurate statements to the Commission does not apply to representations or 
omissions that are insignificant or extraneous to the issues before the Commission in the 
particular case at hand. 18 

As the Applicants explained in the Application, the sale of dPi Teleconnect to 
Amvensys has served the public interest. The financial, technical, and managerial resources that 
Amvensys has brought to dPi Teleconnect has enhanced the ability of dPi Teleconnect to 
compete in the telecommunications marketplace. Furthermore, the transaction has had no 
adverse impact on the customers of dPi Teleconnect and presents no anti-competitive concerns. 

13 

14 

IS 

16 

17 

18 

See Petition of dPi Teleconnect before the FPSC for Supplemental ETC Authority, 
Docket No. 100071-TP, filed Feb.S, 2010. 

See Request for Withdrawal of Petition by dPi Teleconnect before the FPSC for 
Supplemental ETC Authority, Docket No. 100071-TP, filed May 27,2010. 

See http://www.psc.state.fl.us/dockets/ cms/ docketdetails2.aspx? docket= 100071 (last 
visited Feb. 29, 2012). 

See 47 CFR § 63.04. 

See 47 CFR § 63.01. 

See Amendment of Section 1.17 of the Commission's Rules Concerning Truthful 
Statements to the Commission, Report and Order, 18 FCC Rcd 4016, 4019-4020 (2003); 
47 CFR § 1.17. 
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Since the comments of Mr. Green provide no basis for disqualifying Amvensys and denying the 
Application, the Applicants request that the Commission grant the Application pursuant to its 
streamlined processing procedures. 

Please contact the undersigned counsel if you have any questions regarding this 
matter. 

cc: Dennis Johnson 
Jim Bird 
Tracey Wilson 
David Krech 
Mr. Lawrence Green (by U.S. mail) 

DCO 1/GRIF J/4 71221.2 
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I am Z. Ed Lateef. I am providing this Verification with respect to the Application of dPi 
Teleconnect, LLC ("dPi Teleconnect") and Amvensys Capital Group, LLC, f/k/a Amvensys 
Telecom Holdings, LLC ("Amvensys;" with dPi Teleconnect, the "Applicants") for Consent to 
Transfer Control ofa Company Holding Blanket Domestic Section 214 Authority in WC Docket 
No. 12-32 and the March 1,2012 response of the Applicants ("Response") to the comments filed 
by Lawrence Green on February 21, 2012 in this docket ("Green Comments"). I have reviewed 
the Green Comments and the Response. 

1. In the Green Comments, Mr. Green alleges that I routinely lie and state that I am 
not a felon on state and federal applications; that I am "a very dangerous person;" that I will lie 
and cheat at every opportunity; that 1 am "deceitful;" that I use the name Ed Lateef or Ed Z. 
Lateef on any document that I sign so as to hide my past felony theft conviction; that I obtain 
funding from scams and from questionable sources, including Adley Abdulwahab; that I have 
"spent time in countries that are not friendly to the US;" that I have "bankrupted" companies; 
and that I have obtained control of companies "by fraud and deception." I deny each and every 
one of these allegations. 

2. I was convicted of felony theft by check in Texas nearly two decades ago, at the 
age of 22. The circumstances surrounding my conviction are as follows. 

3. In 1989, while living in Houston, I signed a business check to pay for the rental of 
office furniture. When I signed the check, I was unaware of the amount in the business's account 
at that time. The check was returned for insufficient funds. I never intended to write a bad 
check or defraud the furniture rental company, and J immediately returned the furniture. 
Because my business was still in its infancy, I could not immediately pay the amount of the 
returned check, but r planned to do so as funds became available. A few months after I returned 
the office furniture and without any prior communication from the rental company, I was served 
with an arrest warrant for theft by check. As 1 could not afford counsel at the time, the court 
appointed a lawyer for me. The court-appointed lawyer recommended that I accept an offer of 
seven years of probation, which advice I followed. On June 15, 1989, I received a deferred 
adjudication of guilt and seven years of probation. 

4. During the probation period, I moved to Ft. Worth to pursue a business 
opportunity. Because of the move, I was unable to meet monthly with my probation officer. My 
probation was then revoked and I was ordered to serve time in jail. By this time, I had paid full 
restitution and was able to afford an attorney. As a result, on July 7, 1993, the matter was 
resolved without jail time but with a conviction on my record. 

5. The Response describes certain proceedings before the Public Utility Commission 
of Texas ("PUCT") concerning an application of dPi Energy, LLC to amend its retail electric 
provider certificate in Texas. I deny intentionally providing false or misleading information to 
the PUCT in connection with this proceeding. 
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6. The Response describes certain proceedings before the Florida Public Service 
Commission ("FPSC") concerning the February 2010 petition of dPi Teleconnect for 
supplemental authority in regards to its eligible telecommunications carrier status in Florida. I 
deny intentionally providing false or misleading infonnation to the FPSC in connection with this 
proceeding. 

1 declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct. 

~
.-;;;@ _. 

. /. ... 

c:? 
Z. Ed Lateef 

Date: March 1,2012 
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APPLICATION OF DPI ENERGY, LLC § PUBLIC UTILITY COMMI§~~! /,'If <"/;; 
FOR AN AMENDMENT TO ITS § CI.(%.iot~/(> 
RETAIL ELECTRIC PROVIDER (REP) § OF TEXAS tr . uS10-t 
CERTIFICATION, PURSUANT TO § 
SUBST. R.25.107 § 

ORDER 

This order addresses an amended unanimous settlement agreement and report to the 

Commission. The settlement agreement is between the Commission Staff, dPi Energy, LLC, 

Zahed "Ed" Lateef, CenterPoint Energy Houston Electric, LLC, Texas-New Mexico Power 

Company, AEP Texas Central Company, and AEP Texas North Company and resolves all 

disputed fact issues regarding dPi Energy's application to amend its retail electric provider 

(REP) Certificate No.1 0130 and the Commission Staff's recommendations on final disposition, 

motion to consolidate REP applications, and counter petition to revoke the REP certificate of dPi 

Energy. The settlement agreement is unopposed and provides for a reasonable resolution of this 

docket. The settlement agreement is approved. 

The Commission adopts the following tindings of fact and conclusions of law: 

I. Findings of Fact 

1. dPi Energy is a REP as defined in § 17.002(6) of PURAI and P.U.C. SUBST. 

R.15.5(115). 

2. dPi Energy currently holds REP Certiticate No. 10130. 

3. In October 2006, the Commission granted Current Power and Light, LLC REP Certificate 

No.1 0 130 in Application of Current Power and Light, LLC for Retail Electric Provider 

(REP) Certificate. Docket No. 33227, Notice of Approval (Oct. 27, 2006). 

I Public Utility Regulatory Act, TEX. UTIL. CODE ANN. *§ 11.001-66,016 (Vernon 2007 & Supp. 2010) 
(PURA). 
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4. In March 2007, the Commission granted Current Power and Light, LLC administrative 

approval to change its name to dPi Energy, LLC in Application of Current Power and 

Light, LLC for an Amendment to its REP Certificate, Docket No. 33818, Order No.3, 

Granting Administrative Approval (Mar. 12,2007). 

5. dPi Energy is a wholly-owned subsidiary of dPi Teleconnect, LLC. 

6. On November 17,2009, dPi Teleconnect was sold by its parent company, Rent-a-Center, 

to Amvensys Telecom Holdings, LLC, which resulted in a change in ownership and 

control of dPi Energy from Rent-a-Center to Amvensys. 

7. On January 25,2010, dPi Energy filed the instant application to amend its REP certificate 

to reflect this change in ownership. 

8. At the time of this application, Amvensys owned 100% of the membership interests of 

dPi Teleconnect, which owned 100% of the membership interests of dPi Energy; and Mr. 

Zahed Lateef and Mrs. Lubna Lateef each owned a 50% share of Amvensys. 

9. dPi Energy's REP certificate amendment application and responses to requests for 

information filed in Docket No. 37917 identify Z. Ed Lateef and Lubna Lateef as the 

owners of 100% of the membership interest in Amvensys. Amvensys holds 100% of the 

membership interest in dPi Teleconnect. dPi Teleconnect owns 100% of the membership 

interest in dPi Energy. Additionally, the application and responses identify Thomas G. 

o 'Roark, Vincent Arena, Jerry Brennan, and Robert Gaston as the chief executive 

officer, chief financial officer, vice-president of operations, and vice-president of energy 

operations of dPi Energy, respectively. The Texas Office of the Secretary of State lists 

the following officers and directors of dPi Energy, LLC: 

Name Title Address 

Z. Ed Lateef Chairman 3350 Boyington Dr. #200 

Carrollton, TX 

75006 

Z. Ed Lateef Director 33?0 Boyington Dr. #200 

Carrollton, TX 
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75006 

Sunil Kumar Director 3350 80yinb1!on Dr. #200 

Carrollton, TX 

75006 

Thomas G. 0' Roark Chief Executive Officer 3350 Boyington Dr. #200 

Carrollton, TX 

75006 

10. Since November of 2009, Mr. Zahed Lateef has owned, and currently owns, more than 

10% of dPi Energy. 

11. Mr. Zahed Lateef was a minority shareholder and principal of Sure Electric, LLC d/b/a 

Riverway Power (Riverway Power) a REP whose certificate was revoked by the 

Commission in 2008, and which experienced a mass transition of its customers to a 

provider of last resort (POLR). Mr. Zahed Lateef was also a principal of National Power 

Company, Inc. National Power's REP certificate has been revoked and it experienced a 

mass transition of its customers to POLRs. Mr. Lateef, however, was not a principal at 

the time National Power's certificate was revoked and the customers were 

transitioned to POLRs. 

12. On July 2, 2010, in response to the amendment application, Commission Staff 

recommended denial and filed a counter petition seeking revocation of REP Certificate 

No. 10183. 

13. On March 4, 2011, Commission Staff filed an amended counter petition to revoke the 

REP certificate of dPi Energy. 

14. Commission Staff alleged that dPi Energy is in violation of P.U.C. SUBST. 

R. 25.1 07(g)( 1 )(0) because Mr. Lateef was an owner and director of Riverway Power at 

the time it experienced a mass transition of its customers to a POLR; therefore he is 

prohibited from owning more than 10% of dPi Energy. Commission Staff alleged that 

dPi Energy violated P.U.C. SUBST. R. 25.107(i) because dPi Energy failed to timely file 

000000003 , 
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for amendment to its REP certificate to renect the change in ownership from 

Rent-A-Center, to Amvensys in 2009. 

15. Commission StafTalleged that dPi Energy violated P.U.C. SUBST. R. 25.107(g) by failing 

to update information required in its change in ownership application. 

16. Commission Staff alleged that dPi Energy violated P.U.C. SUBST. R. 25.107(g)(2)(B) by 

failing to disclose in its change in ownership application the complaint history, 

disciplinary record, or compliance record of Riverway Power. In particular, dPi Energy 

did not disclose the revocation of Riverway Power's REP certificate in Petition of 

Commission Staff to Revoke the Retail Electric Provider Certificate of Sure Electric, LLC 

d/b/a Riverway Power Company, Docket No. 35783, Order (Aug. 14, 2008) and did not 

disclose Mr. Lateefs role with Riverway Power. 

17. Commission Staff alleged that dPi Energy violated P.U.C. SUBST. R. 25.1 07(g)(2)(B) and 

(E) by failing to disclose in its change-in-ownership application the complaint history, 

disciplinary record, or compliance record of Riverway Power. In particular, dPi Energy 

did not disclose the felony theft-by-check conviction of Mr. Lateef. 

18. Commission Staff alleged that dPi Energy violated P.U.C. SUBST. R. 25.107(j)(1) by 

providing inconsistent, misleading, and false information in its change in ownership 

application. 

19. Commission Staff alleged that dPi Energy does not possess the managerial resources and 

ability necessary "to supply electric service at retail in accordance with its customer 

contracts" required by P.U.C. SUBST. R. 25.107(g) and (h). 

20. Commission Staff alleged that dPi Energy does not meet the managerial requirements 

because (a) one of its owners, Z. Ed Lateef, was an owner, principal, and or director of a 

REP that experienced a mass transition of its customers to a POLR and was subsequently 

revoked by the Commission (Riverway Power); (b) Mr. Lateefwas the owner, principal, 

and or director of two REPs that have had their certificates revoked by the Commission 

(National Power and Riverway Power); (c) Mr. Lateef was the owner, principal, and or 

director of a REP that exited the market owing money to at least three transmission and 
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distribution utility providers and ERCOT (Riverway Power); and (d) dPi Energy violated 

Commission rules. 

21. Commission Statf alleged that dPi Energy violated P.U.C. SUBST. R. 25.107(t)(2)(A) 

requiring the maintenance of a separate, segregated account for customer deposits by failing 

to timely demonstrate compliance. 

22. Commission Staff alleged that dPi Energy violated P .U.C. SUBST. R. 25.1 07(g)(l )(D) and 

(E), which require the demonstration of certain managerial recourses, by failing to 

timely demonstrate compliance. 

23. On June 28, 2010, the Commission's executive director issued a notice of violation 

(NOV) to dPi Energy wherein the Oversight and Enforcement Division of the 

Commission recommended assessment of administrative penalties against dPi Energy. 

The NOV was based on dPi Energy's failure to comply with PURA §§ 17.004 and 39.101 

and P.U.C. SUBST. R. 25.107, 25.474, 25.475, 25.479, 25.480, and 25.485, relating to 

customer protection rules for retail electric service and REP certification. An amended 

NOV was filed on October 28, 2010, which detailed additional violations and penalties. 

On December 17, 2010, a consent ordet was issued by the Commission in which dPi 

Energy acknowledged the violations, consented to the entry of the Order, and agreed to pay 

a $104,250.00 administrative penalty. 

24. On October 15, 2010, the State Office of Administrative Hearings (SOAH) administrative 

law judge admitted CenterPoint Energy Houston Electric, LLC, AEP Texas Central 

Company, AEP Texas North Company, and Texas-New Mexico Power Company as 

intervening parties to this proceeding. 

25. Both Commission Staff and dPi Energy filed direct testimony in support of their 

respective positions, as well as responsive testimony on the relief sought by the other party. 

CenterPoint filed responsive and rebuttal testimony addressing its concerns in the 

proceeding. 

2 Notice of Violation of dPi Energy. UC of PURA §§ 17.004 and 39.101 and PUC SUBST. R. §§ 25.107. 
25.474. 25.475. 25.479, 25.480, and 25.485 Relating to Customer Protection Rules for Retail Electric Service, 
Docket No. 38484, Consent Order (Dec. 17,2010). 
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26. On January 24, 2010, the parties agreed to waive a live hearing and proceed with a 

hearing by submission of briefs on the basis of the pre-filed testimony and discovery 

responses of the parties. 

27. Subsequent to briefing, the parties participated in settlement discussions and SOAH

assisted mediation, the purpose of which was to reach an amicable resolution of the 

amendment application at issue and the allegations made by Commission Staff in the 

revocation counter-petition. 

28. On May 9, 2011, the parties filed their settlement agreement and report to the 

Commission. 

29. On August 22, 2011, the parties filed their amended unanimous settlement agreement and 

report to the Commission. 

30. On September 1, 2011, the Commission approved, with modifications, the amended 

unanimous settlement agreement and report to the Commission. The Commission also 

approved an interim proposed order, which was filed on September 15, 2011. 

31. dPi Energy has admitted to the allegations in findings of fact nos. 13, 16,20, 21, and 22. 

Otherwise dPi Energy is entering into this agreement without conceding or admitting that it 

or any of its principals or owners has committed a violation of any state laws or 

Commission rules. 

32. This agreement resolves all of the contested issues regarding the amendment application 

and all of Commission Staffs allegations in the revocation counter petition. 

33. The agreement provides for a reasonable resolution of this dispute. 

34. The agreement is in the public interest and should be approved. 

35. On November 10, 2011, the Commission in open meeting approved an executed purchase

and-sale agreement pursuant tQ which 100% of the ownership and interest in dPi Energy 

held by Amvensys was sold to TruSmart Energy Holdings, LLC. 

36. On November 10, 2011, in Docket No. 39825, the Commission approved TruSmart Energy 

Holdings LLC's application to amend the REP certificate of dPi Energy. 
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II. Conclusions of Law 

1. The Commission has jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to PURA §§ 14.051, 15.023, 

17.051,39.352, and 39.356, and P.U.C. SUBST. R. 25.107. 

2. dPi Energy admits to the jurisdiction of the Commission over the parties to this 

proceeding and the subject matter of this agreement. 

3. This docket was processed in accordance with the requirements of PURA, the 

Administrative Procedure Act, TEX. GOV'T CODE ANN. §§ 2001.001-.902 (Vernon 

2010), and Commission rules. 

4. dPi Energy was provided proper notice of Commission Staff's counter petition to revoke the 

REP certificate of dPi Energy. dPi Energy waives any notice required by the Texas 

Administrative Procedure Act and does not challenge the authority of the Commission to 

enter a final order approving this agreement. 

5. P.U.C. SUBST. R. 25.107(t)(2)(A) requires that a REP maintain customer deposits "in an 

escrow account or segregated cash account, or provide an irrevocable stand-by letter of 

credit payable to the Commission in an amount sufficient to cover 100% of the retail 

electric provider's outstanding customer deposits and residential advance payments held 

at the close of each month." 

6. P.U.C. SUBST. R. 25.107(g)(1)(D) requires that a REP maintain "principals or permanent 

employees in managerial positions whose combined experience in the competitive 

electric industry or competitive gas industry equals or exceeds 15 years." Additionally, it 

states that "an individual that was a principal of a retail electric provider that experienced 

a mass transition of the REP's customers to a POLR shall not be considered for purposes 

of satisfying this requirement, and shall not own more than 10% of a retail electric 

provider or directly or indirectly control a retail electric provider." 

7. P.U.C. SUBST. R. 25. 1 07(g)(1)(E) requires that a REP maintain "at least one principal or 

permanent employee who has five years of experience in energy commodity risk 

management of a substantial energy portfolio." 

8. P.U.C. SUBST. R. 25.107(g)(2)(B) requires that a REP applicant disclose in its initial 

application for REP certification "any complaint history, disciplinary record, and 
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compliance record of the applicant, the applicant's affiliates, and the applicant's 

principals during the 60 months immediately preceding the application." 

9. P. U .C. SUBST. R. 25.107(g)(2)(E) requires that a REP applicant disclose in its initial 

application for REP certiikation "whether the applicant or the applicant's principals have 

been convicted or found liable for fraud, theft, larceny, deceit, or violations of any 

securities law, customer protection law, or deceptive trade laws in any state." 

10. P.U.C. SUBST. R. 25.107(h) requires that a REP "shall comply with all applicable 

customer protection requirements, including disclosure requirements, marketing 

guidelines and anti-disclosure discrimination requirements." 

11. P.U.c. SUBST. R. 25.107(i)(3) requires an applicant for a REP certificate to "amend its 

certification within ten working days of a material change to the information provided as 

the basis for the commission's approval of the certification application." 

12. The Commission may revoke a REP's certificate for significant violations of the 

Commission's rules pursuant to PURA §§ 14.051, 17.051, 39.1 51(j), 39.352, and 

39.356(a). 

13. "Significant violations" that warrant REP certificate revocation under PURA § 39.356(a) 

include: (a) providing false or misleading information to the Commission; (b) failure to 

maintain financial resources in accordance with P.U.C. SUBST. R. 25.107(f); 

(c) conviction of a felony by the certificate holder, a person controlling the certificate 

holder, or principal employed by the certificate holder; and (d) other significant violations, 

including the failure or a pattern of a failures to meet the requirements of P.U.C. 

SUBST. R. 25.107 or other Commission rules or orders. P.U.c. SUBST. R. 25.107(j)(l), 

(6), (12), and (17). 

14. The requirements for informal disposition pursuant to P.U.C. PROC. R. 22.35 have been 

met in this proceeding. 
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III. Ordering Paragraphs 

In accordance with these findings of fact and conclusions of law, the Commission issues 

the following orders: 

I. The amended unanimous settlement agreement with its accompanying consent order, 

attached to this order as attachment 1, is approved, and the parties shall be bound by its 

terms. 

2. The purchase-and sale-agreement is approved. 

3. Commission Staffs counter-petition to revoke the REP certificate of dPi Energy is 

dismissed. 

4. Prior to or upon the closing of the purchase and sale agreement, Zahed "Ed" Lateef shall 

resign as an officer and manager of dPi Energy. 

5. Upon the effective date of the divestiture by Amvensys of dPi Energy, Amvensys shall 

terminate all contracts with dPi Energy within 30 days. 

6. Upon the effective date of the divestiture by Amvensys of dPi Energy, Zahed "Ed" Lateef 

and Amvensys and any entities in which they have a controlling ownership interest shall 

no longer contract with, or conduct any business with, dPi Energy except with prior 

approval in a Commission order. 

7. dPi Energy shall hire and employ, for a period of three years after the closing of the 

purchase and sale agreement, a regulatory compliance specialist and an outside 

consultant, for the purpose of ensuring dPi Energy's compliance with the Commission's 

rules. The persons so hired and engaged shall have a minimum of five years' experience 

in the Texas retail electric industry, and utilizing this experience shall continue to review 

dPi Energy's business processes as well as marketing materials, customer contracts, and 

all other materials required to be provided to customers by Commission rules including 

billing invoices and disclosure statements. Furthermore, should the compliance specialist 

become aware of or gain knowledge of violations of the Commission's substantive rules 

by dPi Energy, the compliance specialist shall have an obligation to disclose those 

violations to Commission Staff in its next compliance report. In the event that the 

compliance specialist hired by dPi Energy ceases to be employed by dPi Energy, or if 
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there is a change in the person hired, dPi Energy shall notify the Commission within five 

business days and shall replace its compliance specialist as soon as practicable. As part 

of this notification, dPi Energy shall detail the reasons why the compliance specialist is 

no longer employed by dPi Energy. 

8. Within the three year period after the closing of the acquisition transaction, dPi Energy 

shall tile a compliance report with the Commission every three months, detailing dPi 

Energy's efforts and practices to stay current and maintain compliance with all applicable 

Commission rules. Said report shall include details regarding the compliance specialist's 

specific role and responsibilities at dPi Energy, copies and identification of any material 

changes to terms of service, electricity facts labels, customer contracts, dPi Energy's 

current customer count segregated by pre-paid and post-paid customers and the balance 

of the segregated cash accounts in accordance with Commission Substantive 

Rule 25.107. Additional materials may be added to the report but are not required. 

Furthermore, at any time before the purchase and sale agreement closing, dPi Energy 

shall provide to Commission Staff any information requested by Staff regarding dPi 

Energy's compliance with applicable Commission customer protection rules. dPi Energy 

shall provide the requested information within 5 business days of receipt of the request. 

9. For purposes of revocation of dPi Energy's REP certificate or assessing administrative 

penalties in a contested case proceeding for any future violations that may be committed 

by dPi Energy, the amended unanimous settlement agreement and report to Commission 

(attachment 1 to the Commission's Interim Order of September 15, 2011) and the 

Commission's orders in Docket No. 37917 are admissible for the purpose of establishing 

a history of previous violations, or a pattern of failures to meet the requirements of the 

Commission's rules or order, within the meaning of PURA §§ 15.023(c)(3) & 39.356, 

P.U.C. SUBST. R. 25.107(j) and P.U.C. PROC. R. 22.246(c)(3)(C). Although admissible, 

the amended unanimous settlement agreement and report to Commission does not create 

a presumption that a higher amount is justitied under PURA section 15.023(c)(3) and 

P.U.C PROC. R. 22.246(c)(3)(C). 

10. Entry of this order consistent with the agreement does not indicate the Commission's 

endorsement or approval of any principle or methodology that may underlie the 
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agreement. Entry of this order consistent with the agreement shall not be regarded as 

binding holding or precedent as to the appropriateness of any principle that may underlie 

the agreement. 

SIGNED AT AUSTIN, TEXAS the J1!;.y of December 2011. 

PUBLIC UTILITY COMMISSION OF TEXAS 

DONNA L. NELSON, CHAIRMAN 

KE?ETH W. ANDERSON, iR.,J;{)MMISSIONER 
// 
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Attachment 1 
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P.U.C. DOCKET NO. 37917 
SOAH DOCKET NO. 473·10-5401 

.\PPLICATION OF DPI ENERGY, LtC 
fi'OR AN AMENDMENT TO ITS 
(~ETAIL ELECTRIC PROVIDER (REP) 
CERTIFICATION, 

UEFORE TilE STATE OFIt'ICE 

OF 

PURSUANT TO SUBST. R. §25.107 ADMINISTRATIVE UEARINGS 

Al\tIENDED UNANIMOUS SETTLEl\tIENT AGREEMENT AND REPORT 
TO COMMISSION 

StatT of the Public Uti,~ity ~ommission of Texas ("Statl"), dPi Energy, LLC ('\JPi 

Energy"), lahed "Ed" Lateef, AEP Texas Central Company and AEP Texas North Company 

(~ollectivcly "AEP"), CenterPoint Energy Houston Electric, LLC (CenterPoint), and Texas-New 

Mexico Power Company ('''fNMP'') (individually, a "Party" and together, "Parties") enter into this 

Amended Unanimous Settlement Agreement and Report to Commission ("Agreement"). 'I11is 

Agreement resolves PUC Docket No. 37917, SOAH Docket No. 473-10-5401, regarding dPi 

Energy's application to amend its rctail electric provider ("REP") Certificate No. 10130 and the 

Stan's Recommendations on Final Disposition, Motion to Consolidate REP Applications, and 

Counter-Petition to Revoke the Retail Electric Provider Certificate of dPi Energy, LLC. 

TIlE PARTIES AGREE AS FOLLOWS: 

ADMITTED VIOLATIONS 

I. The Parties stipulate to the findings of fact and conclusions of law contained in the 

attached Proposed Order (the "Proposed Order") and request approval of the Proposed 

Order by the Public Utility Commission of Texas ("PUC" or "Commission"). lahed "Ed" 

Lateef and dPi Energy specifically admit to the allegations in Findings of Fact Nos. 13, 

16, 20, 21 and 22. Zahed "Ed" Lateef and dPi Energy admit that: 

:OI616612.00c/) 

I) dPi Energy is in violation of P. U.C. SUBST. R. 
~25.107(g)( I )(0) because Mr. Lateef was a principal of Riverway 
Power at the time it experienced a mass transition of its customers 
to POLR and he is theretbre prohibited from owning more than 
10% of dpi Energy; 
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2) dPi Energy viulated r.u.c. SUBST. R. *25.107(i) because 
,Il)i tuiled to timely tile its application to amend its REP ccrtiticate 
to rctlect the change in ownership trom Rent a Center, to 
Amvcnsys in 2009; 

3) dPi Energy violated P.U.C. SUBST. R. 25.107(g}(2)(E) by 
failing to disclose the tetony theft-by-check conviction of Mr. 
Luteet; 

4) dPi Energy violated P.U.C. SUBST. R. 25.107(g)(1)(D) & 
(E), which requires the demonstration of certain managerial 
resources, by tailing to timely demonstrate compliance; 

5) dPi Energy violated P.U.C. SUBST. R. 25. t07(t)(2)(A) 
requiring the maintenance of a separate segregated account tor 
customer deposits by failing to timely demonstrate compliance; 

And such issue was addressed in the Notice of Violations 
proceeding, Docket No. 38384, in which 

6) dPi agreed to entry of a consent order and paid a 
$104,250.00 administrative penalty based on uPi Energy's failure 
to comply with PURA §§ 17.004 and 39.101 and P.U.C. SUBST. 
R. 25.107, 25.474, 25.475, 25.479, 25.480, and 25.485, relating to 
Customer Protection Rules for Retail Electric Service and Retail 
Electric Provider Certitication. 

MANDATORY SALE OF dPf ENERGY 

I. As a consequence of the acknowledged violations ofPURA, Amvensys Telecom Holdings, 

LLC ("Amvensys") agrees to divest all of its ownership and control of dPi Energy. By 

October 1, 20 It, liPi Energy shall present to the Staff and the Parties an executed 

Purchase and Sale Agreement ("PSA") pursuant to which L 00% of the ownership interest 

in dPi Energy held by Amvensys will be sold. If that express condition is not met, absent 

an Order by the Commission extending the deadline for such sale based on substantial 

completion of the PSA at that time, the Parties agree to entry of the Consent Order 

("Consent Order") attached to the Proposed Order revoking the Retail Electric Provider 

Certificate of dPi Energy, LLC (No. 10130). 
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2. In accordance with Commission Substantive Rule 25.107(i)()), the <lc4uiring party 

idcntitiec.i in the PSA will timely tile an application to amend the aC4uircd REP Ccrtiticate 

after the execution of the PSA. Thereatler, dPi Energy and the aC4uiring party will close 

the transaction to aC4uire dPi Energy within ten business days of the Commission's 

approval of the transtcr of the REP certiticate to the aC4uiring party. If the Commission 

denies that application, or if JPi Energy and the aC4uiring party tail to dose the 

acquisition transaction within ten days of the Commission's approval of the application, 

the Parties agree to entry of the attached Consent Order. 

3. Prior to or upon the closing of the acquisition transaction identitied in the PSA, Zahec.i 

"Ed" Latcef wi 11 resign as an otficer and manager of dPi Energy, LLC. 

4. Upon the execution of this Agreement, Amvensys shall engage Southwest Securities to sell 

100% of the outstanding securities of dPi Energy, all of which are owned by Amvensys. 

Amvensys agrees to cause Southwest Securities (and any other employees or advisors of 

JPi Energy or Amvensys, as re4uested by the Statf or the Parties) to conVene conference 

calls every second week atter the execution of this Agreement to provide updates to the 

Parties on all aspects of the sale proce..'is. 

5. Upon the effective date of the divestiture by Amvensys of dPi Energy pursuant to this 

agreement, Amvensys will terminate all contracts with dPi Energy within 30 days. Zahed 

"Ed" Lateef further agrees that he and Amvensys and any entities in which they have a 

I,;ontrolling ownership interest will not contract with, or conduct any business with, dPi 

except with prior approval in a Commission order. 

6. dPi Energy covenants and agrees to pay its ordinary course of business debts and 

obligations to CenterPoint, AEP, TNMP, and the Electric Reliability Council of Texas 

("ERCOT"), when due and payable. If dPi Energy does not timely pay such debts and 

obligations on the due date (Le., 35 calendar days atter the date of transmittal of a valid 

invoice), a Party that has not timely received payment shall give written notice thereof to 

the Staff and dPi Energy. dPi Energy and the Parties agree that upon receipt by the Staff 
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and dPi Energy of such written notice, the attached Consent Order shall be submiltt.:d for 

entry by the Commission. fn the uvcnt ,that :iuch Consent Order is entered hy the 

Commission, dPi Energy agrees to transition its customers as soon .18 reasonably possible 

in accordance with ERCOT procedures. 

7. AEP and TNMP agree that Mr. Latcet' has paid in his personal capacity the transmission 

u. 

b. 

c. 

d. 

e. 

:.md distribution service charges, shown below, owed to them by Sure Electric, LLC d/b/a 

Riverway Power ("Riverway"). Mr. Lated' has also paid in his personal capacity Oncor 

Elc:ctric Delivery Company and Shuryland Distribution & Transmission Services, L.P. the 

amounts shown below tor amounts owed to them by Riverway. Pursuant to an agreement 

with CenterPoint, Mr. Lateef paid in his personal capacity $31,044.20 in January 201 I, 

and dPi Energy paid SI2,147.73 in March 201 t for amounts owed to CenterPoint by 

Riverway. Nothing in this agreement constitutes a settlement or waiver of CenterPoint's 

right to pursue any claims it may presently have for the remainder of the amount due. 

Entity 

CenterPoint Energy Houston 
Electric, LLC 

AEP Texas Central and North 
Companies 

Texas-New Mexico Power 
Company 

Oncor Electric Delivery 
Company 

Sharyland Distribution & 
Tmnsmission Services, L.P. 

Amount Owed 

$310,441.98 

$54,575.88 

$25,534.54 

$116,997.39 

$450.00 

Amount Paid 

'543, 19t.93 

Paid in full. 

Paid in full. 

'S16,274.63 

Paid in full. 

8. Mr. Lated~ a minority shareholder in Riverway, has otfered to pay ERCOT'~over 

J perioo of 24 months in full settlement of the litigation brought by ERCOT against 
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) Rivcrway. 

) 

9. Staff and dPi Ent!rgy agreu that by entry of a Commission tinal order in the Amended 

Notice of Violation ("NOV") in Docket No. 38384, dPi Energy resolved the matters 

alleged in the NOV by way of a Consent Order in which it abrrced to pay, and on January 

13, 20 II in tact paid, $104,250 in administrative penalties to the Commission. Further, 

Statf and dPi Ent:rgy agree thut the Staffs Second Memorandum Report in support of the 

Notice of Violation acknowlt:dges that dPi Energy intonned the Staff that it corrected the 

violations alleged in the NOV, that it did in tact collaborate with the Statf in achieving an 

agreed methodology tor detennining the correct application of Commission Substantive 

Rule 25.107(t)(2), and that it agreed to provide the Statf with any additional 

documentation required to ensure ongoing compliance. 

10. Statf agrees that with dPi Energy's compliance with the tenns of this Agreement, it will 

withdraw the revocation petition it has filed in P.U.C. Docket No. 37917. This docket 

will remain pending until dPi Energy complies with the tenns of this agreement, upon 

~ntry of the Consent Order, other order of revocation, or other resolution by the 

Commission. 

ENFORCEMENT, COMPLIANCE, AND MONITORING 

II. dPi Energy agrees to hire and employ for a period of three years after the closing of the 

PSA , and has hired and currently employs, a regulatory compliance specialist, and 

rurthennore has engaged the services of an outside consultant, tor the purpose of 

ensuring dPi Energy's compliance with the Commission's rules. The persons so hired and 

engaged will have a minimum of nve years experience in the Texas retail electric 

industry, and utilizing this experience will continue to review dPi Energy's business 

processes as well as marketing materials, customer contracts, and all other materials 

required to be provided to customers by Commission rules including billing invoices and 

disclosure statements. Furthennore, should the compliance specialist become aware of 

or gain knowledge of violations of the Commission's Substantive rules by dPi Energy, 
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th" l:ompliance specialist will have an obligation to disclose those violations to 

Commission Staff in its next l:ompliance report. In the event that the compliance 

:-;peciulist hired by dP, Energy ceases to be employed by dPi Energy, or if there is a 

l:h.mge in the person hired, dPi Energy will notify the Commission within live business days 

:U1d shall replace its compliance spt.'Cialist as soon as practicable. As part of this 

notitication, dPi Energy will detail the reasons why the compliance specialist is no longer 

employed by dPi Energy. 

IZ. Beginning with, and including, the Semi-Annual REP report required to be submitted in 

June, 2011 and ending three years after the closing of the acquisition transaction, dPi 

Energy agrees to tile a compliance report with the Commission every J months, detailing 

dPi Energy's efforts and practices to stay current and maintain compliance with all 

applicable Commission rules. Said report shall include details regarding the compliance 

specialist's specific role and responsibilities at dPi Energy, copies and identification of 

any material changes to terms of service, electricity facts labels, customer contracts, dPi 

Energy's current customer count segregated by pre-paid and post-paid customers and 

the balance of the segregated cash accounts in accordance with Commission 

Substantive Rule 25.107. Additional materials may be added to the report but are not 

required. Furthermore, during the period before the required sale, dPi Energy agrees to 

provide to Statf any intbnnation requested by Statf regarding dPi Energy's compliance 

with applicable Commission customer protection rules. uPi Energy will provide the 

requested intonnation within 5 business days of receipt of the request. 

) 

13. For purposes of revocation of uPi Energy's REP certificate or assessing administrative 

penalties in a contested case proceeding for any future violations that may be committed 

by dPi Energy, this Agreement and the Proposed Order are admissible for the purpose 

of establishing a history of previous violations, or a pattern of failures to meet the 

requirements of the Commission's rules or order, within the meaning of PURA §§ 

IS.OZ3(c)(3) & 39.356, r.u.c. SUBST. R. 25.107U) and P.U.C. PROC. R. 

22.246(c)(3)(C). Although admissible, this Agreement does not a create a presumption 

that a higher amount is justified under PURA section lS.OZJ(c}(J) and PUC PROC. R. ) 
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22.246(c)(J)(C) and hoth Parties arc free to argue tor or against its application in future 

cases. 

14. Nothing in this Agreement shall limit the Staff's ability to pertorm its enforcement 

functions as set torth in l)URA and the Commission's rules. 
\, 

L 5. A Party's support of the resolution of this docket in accordance with this Agreement may 

differ tTom its position or testimony regarding contested issues ot'law, policy or fact in 

other proct:edings betbre the Commission or other torums. Because this is a settlement 

agreement, a Party is under no obligation to take the same position as set out in this 

Agreement in other proceedings not reterenced in this Agreement, whether those dockets 

present the same or a different set of circumstances. The Parties' agreement to entry of 

a final order of the Commission consistent with this Agreement should not be regarded as an 

agreement as to the appropriateness or correctness of any assumptions, methodology, or 

legal or regulatory principle that may have bt!CJl employed in reaching this Agreement. 

16. The Partics contemplate that this Agreement will be approved pursuant to P.U.C. PROC. R. 

22.24o(g)( I )(C). In the event the Commission materially changes the terms of this 

Agreement, the Parties agree that any Party adversely atfected by that material alteration 

has the right to withdraw from this Agreement, thereby becoming released from its 

obligations arising hereunder, and to proceed as otherwise permitted by law to exercise all 

rights available under law. The right to withdraw must be exercised by providing the other 

party written notice within 20 calendar days of the date the Commission tiles the final 

order acting on this Agreement. Failure to provide such notice within the specified time 

period shall constitute a waiver of the right to withdraw and acceptance of the material 

changes to this Agreement made by the Commission. 

17. This Agreement is the tinal and entire agreement between the Parties regarding its terms 

and supersedes all other communications among the Parties or their representatives 

regarding its terms. Furthermore, this Agreement fully and finally resolves, pursuant to 

the terms and conditions set forth herein, any and all claims allegations described in 

IOI616612.DOCI )Page 7 of9 

000000019 



Dockct No. 37917. 

18. Each ptrson cxccuting this Agreement represents that he or ghc has been authorized to sign 

on behalf of the l>arty rt.-presentcd. Copies of signatures are valid to show execution. If 

this Agreement is ex.ecuted in multiple I.:ounterparts. each is deemed an original but aU of 

which constitute the same Agreement. 

t 9. uPi Energy and Amvensys each warrant that they have read this Agreement carefully, know 

the contents thereof, and sign the same as their free act. 

EXECUTED by the Parties through their authorized representatives designated below: 

--", . -, 
,~ V. ,-+\.'~,.. 
Dennis W. Donley, JI":\ 

State Bar No24004620 
Naman, Howell, Smith & Lee, PLLC 
1010 N. Capital of Texas fIIghway, Suite 490 
Aus~ Texas 78731 
(512) 479-0300 
(512) 474-l901 (Facsimile) 

Date: /..\...c.......II.s~ \ "1 I U I I 

ATTORNEY FOR Zahed Lateef, dPi Energy, LLC 
and Amvensys Telecom Holdings, LLC 

~~ r\.~. t..j e~; 55j J\- Dale: A ~!it 1",;).0 I I 
Robert M. Long 

State Bar No. 125~5~?O %~ J ~U'O S 
Attorney-Legal DIVISIon V 
Public Utility Commission of Texas 
1701 N. Congress Avenue 
P.O. 80x 13326 
Austin, Texas 78711-3326 
ATTORNEY FOR Public Utility Commission of Texas Staff 
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IU10ilua Colbert Ryan 
Slate Bar No. 17478300 
AssistanL Ol:neml Cuunsel 
I\mericlU1 Electric Power Service Corporation 
f,OO West 1 Silt Streef. Suite I.no 
Austin. Texas 18701 

lJatc: _______ _ 

ATTORNEY FOR AEP Texas Cent roll Compllny lind AEP T",,:u Nortll Company 

Scott Sewnster 
StuttS Bar No. 00784939 
Corporote Counsel 
Texas-New Mexico Power Company 
225 E. John Cwpenter Fwy, Suite 1500 
Irving. Texas 15062 

Oa~: ______________ __ 

ATTORNEY "'OK Teus-New Mexico Power Company 

-------------.~~-----------------------
ZAHED "ED" LATEEI!' 
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Rhonda Colbert Ryan 
State Bar No. 17478800 
Assistant Gcneml COllnsel 

Date: ~ 14,Joll 

American Electric Power Service Corporation 
400 West lSi" Street, Suite 1520 
Austin, TeXLlS 78701 
ATTORNEY FOR AEP Texas Central Company Ilod AEP Texa. North Company 

Dale: _______ _ 

Scott Seamster 
State Bar No. 00784939 
Corporate Counsel 
Texas-New Mexico Power Company 
225 E. John Carpenter Fwy. Suite 1500 
(rving, Texas 75062 
ArrORNEY FOR Tcxa .. New Mexico Power Company 

I ~ d ;s~'" A,. ~o" ;v'. -"\ pv'" Dnte: _~';I-
ason M. Ryan 

State Bar No. 24033150 G~ A • 
Assistant General Counsel CfV\ U ~L<" j 
CenterPoint Energy, [nco 
P.O. Box 61867 
! louston, Texas 77208 
ATTORNEY FOR CenterPoint Energy Houston Electric, LLC 
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Rhonda Colbert Ryan 
State Bar No. 17478800 
A:;sistant G~nern1 Counsel 
American Electric Power Service Corporation 
400 West 15m Street, Suite 1520 
Austin, T~xas 78701 

oate: _______ _ 

"TfORNEY FOR AEP Texas Central Company and AEP TellIS Nortb Company 

"~I cL ex. , ./J ~ 
(l~ ,.~ Date: 

Scott Seamster 
State Bar No. 00784939 
Corporate Counsel 
Texas-New Mexico Power Company 
225 E. John Carpenter Fwy, Suite 1500 
Irving, Texas 75062 
A TfORNEY FOR Texas-New Mexico Power Company 

Jason M. Ryan 
State Bar No. 24033) 50 
Assistant Genernl Counsel 
CenterPoint Energy, [ne. 
P.O. IJox 61867 
Houston. Texas 77208 

oate: _______ _ 

A'ITORNEY FOR CenterPoint Eneno' Houston Electric, LLC 
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ATf ACllMENT 2 

PUC DOCKET NO. ___ _ 

APPLICATION OF OPl ENERGY, ~ l)UBLIC UTILITY COMMISSION 
LLC FOR AN AMENDMENT TO ITS ~ 
RETAIL ELECTRIC PROVIDER § OF TEXAS 
(REP) CERTIFICA'nON, PURSUANT § 
TO SUBST. R. §2S.107 § 

~ 
~ 

CONSENT ORDER 
(REVOCATION OF REP CERTIFICATE) 

This Order addresses the Settlement Agreement and Report to Commission (Agreement) 

between the Staff of the Public Utility Commission (Staff). dPi Energy, LLC (dPi Energy), 

Zahed "Ed" Luted, CenterPoint Energy Houston Electric. LLC (CenterPoint), and Texas-New 

Mexico Power Company (TNMP) (individually, a Party, and together Parties) regarding UPi 

Energy, LLC's (dPi Energy) application to amend its retail electric provider ("REP) Certificate 

No. tOlJO and the Staff's Recommendations on Final Disposition. Motion to Consolidate REP 

Applications, and Counter-Petition to Revoke the Retail Electric Provider Certificate of dPi 

Energy, LLC. This docket was processed in accordance with applicable statutes and 

Commission rules. This Consent Order resolves all issues in this docket. dPi Energy 

acknowledges the violations detailed herein and consents to the entry of this order. 

The Commission adopts the following findings of fact and conclusions of law: 

l. Findings of Fact 

1. dPi Energy is a Retail Electric Provider (REP) as de tined in § 17.002(6) of PURAI and 

P.U.c. SUBST. R. 25.5( 115). 

2. J.Pi Energy currently holds REP Certiticate No. to 130. 

3. fn October 2006, the Commission granted Current Power and Light. LLC REP Certificate 

No. l0130 in Docket No. 33227, Application of Current Power and Ught, UCfor Retail 

Electric Provider (REP) Certificate. 

I Public Utility Regulatory Act. TEX. UTIL CODa ANN.§§ 11.001-66.017 (Vernon 2007 & Supp. 2(10) (PURA). 
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t In March 2001, the Commission granted Current Power and Light, LLC administrative 

approval to (.;hange its name to dPi Energy, LLC in Docket No. 33818. Application of 

Current Power (md Li!-:lJt, LLC for (In Amendment to il.'1 REP Certificate. 

5. dPi Energy is a wholly owned subsidiary of dPi Teleconnect, LLC (dPi Telcconnect). 

6. On November 17,2009, dPi Teleconnecl was sold by its parent company, Rent-a-Ct!nter, 

to Amvensys Holdings, LLC (Amvensys), which resulted in a change in ownership and 

control of dPi Energy from Rent-a-Ct!nter to Amvensys. On January 25,2010 dPi Energy 

filed the instant application to amend its REP certificate to rencet this change in 

ownership. 

7. At the time of (his application. Amvensys owned 100% of the membership interests of 

dPi Teleconnect, which owned 100% of the membership interests of dPi Energy; and Mr. 

Zahed Lateef and Mrs. Lubna Lateef each owned a 50% share of Amvensys. 

8. dPi Energy, LLC's REP certificate amendment application and responses to requests for 

information filed in this Docket (No. 37917) identify Z. Ed Lateef and Lubna Lateef as 

the owners of 100% of the membership interest in Amvensys Telecom Holdings, LLC. 

Amvensys Telecom Holdings, LLC holds 100% of the membership interest in dPi 

Tcleconnect, LLC. dPi Tdeconnect, LLC owns 100% of the membership interest in dPi 

Energy, LLC. Additionally, the application and responses identify Thomas G. O'Roark, 

V inct!llt Arena. Jerry Brennan, and Robert Gaston as the Chief Executive Officer, Chid 

Financial Officer, Vice President of Operations, and Vice President of Energy Operations 

of dPi Energy, LLC, respectively. The Texas Oftice of the Secretary of State lists the 

following officers and directors of dPi Energy, LLC: 

Name Title Address 

Z. Ed Lateef Chainnan 3350 Boyington Dr. #200 
Carrollton, TX 75006 

Z. Ed Lateef Director 3350 Boyington Dr. #200 
Carrollton, TX 75006 

Sunil Kumar Director J3S0 Boyington Dr. #200 
Carrollton, TX 75006 

Thomas G. O'Roark Chief Executive Officer 3350 Boyington Dr. #200 
Carrollton. TX 75006 
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9. Since November of '2009, Mr. Zahed Latcef has owned, and currently own~, more than 

10% of dPi Energy. 

10. Mr. Zahed Lated was a minority shareholder and principal of Sure Electric, LLC d/b/a 

Riverway Power (Riverway Power), a REP whose certiticate had been revoked by the 

Commission in 2008, and which experienced a mass transition of its customers to a 

provider of last resort (POLR). Mr. Zahed Lateef was also a principal of National Power 

Company, Inc (National Power). National Power's REP certiticate has been revoked and 

it experienced a mass transition of its customers to POLRs. Mr. Lateef. however. was not 

a principal at the time National Power's certificate was revoked and the customers were 

transitioned to POLRs. On January 25, 2010. dPi Energy tiled an application in this 

<locket to amend its REP Certiticate to retlect the sale of dPi Teleconnect from Rent-a

Center to Amvensys (Change in Ownership Application). 

It. On July 2. 2010, in response to the amendment application. Commission Staff 

recommended denial and tiled a Counter-Petition seeking revocation of REP Certificate 

No. 10130. 

12. On Marcil 4, 2011 Commission Staff filed an Amended Counter-Petition to Revoke the 

Retail Electric Certificate of dPi Energy. 

13. dPi Energy violated P.U.C. SUBST. R. §25.107(g)(l)(D) because Mr. Lateef was an 

owner ami director of Riverway Power at the time it experienced a mass transition of its 

customers to POLR and he is therefore prohibited from owning more than 10% of dpi 

Energy. 

14. dPi Energy violated P.U.C. SUBST. R. §25.107(i) because JPi failed to timely tile to 

amend its REP certit1cate to reHect the change in ownership from Rent-a~Center to 

Amvensys in 2009. 

L5. dPi Energy violated P.U.C. SUBST. R. 25.l07(g) by failing to update infonnation 

required in its Change in Ownership Application. 

16. dPi Energy violated P.U.C. SUBST. R. 25.107(g)(2)(B) by failing to disclose in its 

Change in Ownership Application the complaint history. disciplinary record or 

compliance record of Riverway Power. In particular. JPi Energy did not disclose the 

10 1009549. DOC I }J 

000000026 



revocation of Riverway Power's REP certiticate in Docket No. )5783 and did not 

disclose Mr. Latcef'!i role with RiverwllY Power. 

l7. llPi Energy violated P.U.C. SUBST. R. 25.L07(g)(2)(B) & (E) by failing to disclose in its 

Change in Ownership Application the complaint history, disciplinary record or 

compliance record of Riverway Power. In particular, the Applicant did not disclose the 

felony theft-by-check conviction of Mr. Lateef. 

l8. dPi Energy violated P.U.C. SUBST. R. 25.L07(j)( 1) by providing inconsistent. 

misleading, and false information in its Change in Ownership Application. 

19. dPi Energy does not possess the managerial resources and ability necessary "to supply 

dectrie service at retail in accordance with its customer contracts" required by P.U.C. 

SUBST. R.25.107(g) & (h). dPi Energy does not meet the managerial requirements 

hecause: ( l) one of its owners, Z. Ed Lateef. was an owner. principal, and/or director of a 

REP that experienced a mass transition of its customers to POLR and was subsequently 

revoked by the Commission (Riverway Power); (2) Mr. Lateef was the owner, principal. 

and/or director of two REPs that have had their certiticates revoked by the Commission 

(National Power and Riverway Power); (3) Mr. Lateef was the owner, principal, andlor 

director of a REP that exited the market owing money to at least three transmission and 

distribution utility providers (TDSPs) and ERCOT (Riverway Power); and (4) dPi Energy 

has violated Commission rules. 

20. dPi Energy violated P.U.C. SunST. R. 25.107(f)(2)(A), requiring the maintenance of a 

separate segregated account for customer deposits, by failing to timely demonstrate 

compliance. 

21. dPi Energy violated P.U.C. SUBST. R. 25.L07(g)(1)(D) & (E), which requires the 

demonstration of certain managerial recourses, by failing to timely demonstrate 

compliance. 

22. On June 28, 2010. the Corrunission's Executive Director issued a Notice of Violation 

(NOV) to dPi Energy notifying it that the Oversight and Enforcement Division of the 

Commission recommended assessment of administrative penalties against dPi Energy. 

) 

nle NOV was based on dPi Energy's failure to comply with PURA §§ 17.004 and ) 
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J9.l01 and P.U.C. SUIlST. R. 25.lO7, 250474, 25.475, 25.479,25.480, and 25.485 relating 

to Customcr Protection Rulc:i for Retail Electric Service and Retail Electric Provider 

Ccrtit1cation. An amended Notice ot' Violation (NOV) was filed on October 28, 20lO, 

which detailed additional violations and penaltie~. On December L7, 20lO. a Consent 

Order was iss lied by the Commission in which dPi Energy acknowledged the violations, 

consented to entry of the Order and agreed to pay a $104.250.00 administrative penalty. 

23. On October IS, 20 lOt an Administrative Law Judge (AU) at the State Office of 

Administrative Hearings (SOAH) admitted CenterPoint Energy Houston Electric, LLC 

(CenterPoint Houston), AEP Tex.as Central Company (TCC), AEP Texas North 

CompwlY (TNC), and Tex.as-New Mexico Power Company (TNMP) as intervening 

parties to the proceeding. 

24. 80th Staff and dPi Energy filed direct testimony in 3Upport of their respective positions, 

as well as responsive testimony on the relief sought by the other party. CenterPoint filed 

responsive and rebuttal testimony addressing its concerns in the proceeding. 

25. On January 24, 20 lO, the Parties agreed to waive a live hearing and proceed with briefing 

on the basis of the pre-tiled testimony and discovery responses of the Parties. 

26. Subsequent to briefing, the Parties participated in settlement discussions and SOAH

assisted mediation. the purpose of which was to reach an amicable resolution of the 

amendment application at issue and the allegations made by Staff in the revocation 

Counter-Petition. 

27. On September 1,2011. the Commission approved the Parties' Settlement Agreement. 

28. The Agreement provided that if Amvensys failed to present an executed Purchase and 

Sale Agreement ("PSA") to Staff and the Parties on or before October 1,2011. absent an 

Order by the Commission extending the deadline for completion of the PSA, the Parties 

agreed to present to the Commission this Consent Order revoking the Retail Electric 

Provider Certificate of dPi Energy (No. 10 130). 

29. The Agreement further provided that if Staff an,d dPi Energy received written notice from 

a Party that dPi Energy had failed to pay its ordinary course of business debts and 
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obligation, lh~ Partie.<i' agreed to Consent Order revoking the Retail Electric Provider 

Certiticate of dPi Energy would be presented to the Commission. 

JO. dPi Energy acknowledges the violations in Ihis Order and con5cnt~ to the entry of this 

Order. 

J t. All tindings of fact are dually considered conclusions of law. 

r. Cunclusions of Law 

1. The Commission has jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to PURA §§ 14.05 t, 15.023, 

17.05t 39.352 and 39.356. and P.U.C. SUBST. R. 25.107. 

2. dPi Energy admits to the jurisdiction of the Commission over the Parties to this 

proceeding and the subject matter of this Consent Order. 

J. dPi Energy was provided proper notice of Commission Staffs Counter-Petition to 

Revoke (he Retail Electric Provider Certificate of dPi Energy. dPi Energy waives any 

notice required by the Texas Administrative Procedure Act and does not challenge the 

authority of the Commission to enter this Consent Order. 

+. P.U.c. SUI3ST. R. 25.107(t)(2)(A) requires that a REP maintain customer deposits "in an 

escrow account or segregated cash account. or provide an irrevocable stand-by letter of 

credit payable to the Commission in an amount sufficient to cover 100% of the REPs 

out-;tanding customer deposits and residential advance payments held at the close of each 

month." 

5. P.U.C. SUBST. R. 25. t07(g)(l)(O) requires that a REP maintain "principals or permanent 

I.!mptoyees in managerial positions whose combined experience in the competitive 

dectric industry or competitive gas industry equals or exceeds 15 years," Additionally, it 

·;tates that "an individual that was a principal of a REP that experienced a mass transition 

of the REP's customers to a Provider of Last Resort (POLR) shall not be considered for 

purposes of satisfying this requirement. and shall not own more than 10% of a REP or 

directly or indirectly control a REP," 

(11160'154'1 DOC I iii 

I 
I 
I 

)! 

) 

) 

000000029 



I 
) 

) 

6. P.U.C. SUIlST. R. 25.107(g)( l)(E) requires that a REP maintain "at least one principal or 

ptmnanent employee who has tive years of experience in energy commodity risk 

management of a substantial energy portfolio." 

7. P.U.C. SUIlST. R. 25.107(g)(2)(B) requires that a REP applicant disclo~e in its initial 

application for REP certification u any complaint history, disciplinary record, and 

compliance record of the applicant, the applicant'S aftiliates, ;md the applicant's 

principals during the 60 months immediately preceding the application." 

8. P.U.C. SUIlST. R. 25.107(g)(2)(E) requires that a REP applicant disclose in its initial 

application for REP certification "whether the applicant or the applicant's principals have 

been convicted or found liable for froud, theft, larceny, deceit. or violations of any 

securities law, customer protection law, or deceptive trade laws in any state." 

9. P.U.C. SUBST. R. 25.107(h) requires that a REP "shall comply with all applicable 

customer protection requirements, including disclosure requirements, marketing 

guidelines and anti-disclosure discrimination requirements." 

to. P. U.C. SUBST. R. 25.107(i)(3) requires an applicant for a REP certificate to "amend its 

certitication within ten working days of a material change to the information provided as 

the basis for the commission's approval of the certit1cation application." 

11. The Commission may revoke a REP's certit1cate for signiticant violations of the 

Commission's rules pursuant to PURA §§ 14.051, 17.05t, 39.(510), 39.352, and 

J9.356(a). 

12. "Signiticant violations" that warrant REP Certitlcate revocation under PURA § 39.356(a) 

include: (1) providing false or misleading information to the Commission; (2) failure to 

maintain tinancial resources in accordance with P.U.C. SUBST. R. 25.107(f); (3) 

conviction of a felony by the certificate holder, a person controlling the certificate holder, 

or principal employed by the certificate holder; and (4) other significant violations, 

including the failure or a pattern of a failures to meet the requirements of P.U.C. SUBST. 

R. 25.107 or other Commission rules or orders. P.U.C. SUBST. R. 25.107(j)(I), (6), (l2), 

:md (17). 

D. All conclusions of law are dually considered tlndings of fact. 
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l'~. The requirements of informal dispo~ition pursuant to P.U.C. PROC. R. 22.35 have been 

met in this proceeding. 

l5. Entry of this Order by informal disposition is appropriate under Tex. Gov't. Code Ann. ~ 

2.001.056 (Vernon 20 tt). 

II. Ordering Paragrdphs 

(n accordance with these tlndings of fact and conclusions of law, the Commission issues 

the following order: 

1. The Retail Eleclric Provider Certificate No. 10130 is hereby revoked. The effective date 

of the revocation is 30 days after the date this Order is final. 

2. dPt Energy is hereby ordered to provide written notice to all customers of this revocation 

and of dPi Energy's cessation of operations within lO days of the date this Order is tinal. 

This notice shall be provided to Commission Staff in advance of being issued to 

customers for approval. [t ~hal1 include a statement that the customer has the right to 

choose another retail electric provider. as well as the following statement: "If you would 

like to see offers from different retail electric providers, please access 

www.p9wertochoose.com. or call toll-free 1-866-PWR-4-TEX (1-366-797-4893)." 

J. dPi Energy shall comply with all Commission ntles and Electric Reliability Council of 

Texas (ERCOT) Protocols for cessation of operations, in returning customer deposits and 

prepayments, meeting financial obligations, and transitioning customers to their 

Providers of Last Resort. The~e ntles include. but are not limited to, the provisions in 

P.U.C. PROC. R 25.43. 25.47, and 25. 107. 

4. The Commission shall not be constrained in any manner from requiring additional action 

or penalties for violations that are not raised here. 

5. All other motions, requests for entry of specific tindings of fact and conclusions of law, 

and any other request for general or specific relief, if not expressly granted herein, are 

(!cnied. 
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SIGNED AT AUSTIN, TEXAS on the ___ day of ____ 201l. 

PUBLIC UTILITY COMMISSION OF TEXAS 

DONNA L. NELSON, CHAIRMAN 

KENNETH W. ANDERSON, JR., COMMISSIONER 
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